IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 23-728

SCA EFiled: Apr 01 2024
05:10PM EDT
Transaction ID 72650935

**Timberline Four Seasons Utilities, Inc., and
Canaan Valley Public Service District,**

Petitioners, Defendants/Respondents Below,

vs.

Kapitus Servicing, Inc.,

Respondent, Plaintiff/Petitioner Below.

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

Martin P. Sheehan, Esq.
*Counsel for Timberline Four
Seasons Utilities, Inc.*

W.Va. Bar No. 4812
Sheehan & Associates, PLLC
1140 Market St., Suite 333
Wheeling, WV 26003
(304) 232-1064
(304) 232-1066 fax
Martin@MSheehanLaw.net

John W. Cooper, Esq.
*Counsel for Canaan Valley
Public Service District
Receiver for Timberline Four

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1) In a proceeding before the Public Service Commission, does the failure to appear and raise, what is an affirmative defense of res judicata based on proceedings elsewhere, constitute a waiver of that affirmative defense?

2) When the Business Court of Tucker County recognized and deferred to a decision of the Public Service Commission after finding that the Public Service Commission has primary authority to determine the validity, or invalidity of a contract involving a utility under W.Va. Code § 24-2-12, and so granted a motion to dismiss a Count of a Complaint seeking to enforce a contract which the Public Service Commission had found illegal and void, was the decision to reverse that decision by the Intermediate Court of Appeals error?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, Kaptius Servicing, Inc. (formerly known as Colonial Funding Network, Inc.), (hereinafter referred to as Kaptius) as servicing agent for First US Funding, brought suit in Tucker County, West Virginia. The suit was against Petitioners, Timberline Four Seasons Utilities, Inc., (hereinafter sometimes referred to as Utilities, or T4SUI) and Canaan Valley Public Service District (hereinafter sometimes referred to as CVPSD). CVPSD was named as a defendant, both individually and in its capacity as the Receiver of T4SUI. (App. beginning at 15) The suit alleged a series of counts reflecting a variety of theories for relief. Significantly, Count I of its Complaint alleged a breach of contract claim. (App. at 32-33)

The specific underlying document on which the breach of contract claim was based was titled a Revenue Based Factoring Agreement (hereinafter referred to as the “Purported Agreement”). The language of this Purported Agreement is not at issue. Instead, it is the legal effect of this purported contract which was, and remains in this appeal, at issue.

The legal effect of the document is at issue because the Purported Agreement was not approved by the West Virginia Public Service Commission (hereinafter sometimes referred to as PSC or WV PSC) when executed, or afterwards as required by existing West Virginia law, specifically by W.Va. Code § 24-2-12, and case law interpreting this statute. T4SUI and CVPSD had long asserted that said purported contract was void, and illegal. The language material to the purported contract would have transferred “future receipts, accounts, contract rights, and other obligations arising from the payment of monies.”

Kapitus had been invited by the Public Service Commission to make an appearance. (App. at 168-170; 393-394; App., at 525) Kapitus did not do so. (Indeed, Kapitus does not deny that it was served with notice of the proceeding and an invitation to intervene from the PSC in either its brief or reply brief before the ICA) Without appearing, Kapitus did not raise a claim of the affirmative defense of res judicata before the PSC. The Petitioners contended before the Business Court, and do so again in this appeal, that the failure to appear and raise the affirmative defense of res judicata resulted in a waiver of that defense.

Before a responsive pleading was due on the Complaint filed by Kapitus, a hearing examiner of the WV PSC entered an order, which held in reliance on W. Va. Code § 24-2-12, that the Purported Agreement was void, that a security agreement based on that contract was void, and that a financing statement designed to perfect the resulting security agreement was also void. (App.

at 161) Some additional factual findings were also made. This order was adopted in toto by the Public Service Commission. That order was also entered before the responsive pleading was due on the Complaint which had been filed with the Tucker County Circuit Court.

In this odd procedural context, T4SUI and CVPSD filed a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim on which relief could be granted. Primarily this motion asserted the res judicata effect of the Public Service Commission Order prohibited this aspect of the Complaint. In the alternative, in case the Public Service Commission Order represented something outside the Complaint, Movants also denoted the motion as a motion for judgment on the pleadings and/or summary judgment. The Petitioners had recognized that some factual allegations of the Complaint had been addressed by the Public Service Commission Order and crediting such findings, the Public Service Commission order would have rendered some factual allegations of the Complaint impossible to prove.

The case was transferred to the Circuit Court of Tucker County to Business Court. Circuit Judge Michael Lorenson was named to preside.

After briefing, and a hearing, the Business Court of Tucker County granted judgment to T4SUI and CVPSD on Count I of the Complaint by written order. (App. at 002) The Court certified that ruling as a final order under W.Va. R.Civ.P. 54(b). Kapitus filed an appeal.

As part of the Order, Judge Lorensen identified his duty to follow the law and directives of this Court. (App. at 008) He found that this Court had adopted a policy of deference to orders of the Public Service Commission. (App. at 008) Consistent with that approach, Judge Lorensen also acted with deference. Judge Lorensen held that the Public Service Commission Order was consistent with the West Virginia Code and West Virginia case law. (App. at 008)

In a decision by Judge Greear, entered on October 30, 2023, the Intermediate Court of Appeals reversed. (App. 570) The Intermediate Court held that a decision of the United States Bankruptcy Court in a proceeding filed by Timberline Four Seasons Utilities, Inc., and voluntarily dismissed by it, nonetheless operated as res judicata and prevented the Public Service Commission from reaching any conclusion about the contract. The Intermediate Court of Appeals reached this conclusion even though Kapitus had not appeared, and offered any affirmative defense, including the affirmative defense of res judicata before the Public Service Commission.

Petitioners Timberline Four Seasons Utilities, Inc., and Canaan Valley Public Service District timely appealed to this Court. (App. 591) Petitioners ask this Court to affirm and reinstate the ruling of the Business Court of Tucker County granting Petitioners' Motion to Dismiss and to reverse and vacate the contrary decision of the Intermediate Court of Appeals.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Timberline Four Seasons Utility, Inc., has been and is the subject of a receivership. Canaan Valley Public Service District is the Receiver for T4SUI. As a result of disputes which arose in a Bankruptcy case filed by T4SUI, the West Virginia Public Service Commission decided to conduct a General Investigation into the validity, if any, of certain contracts to which T4SUI may be a party.

That investigation was begun with constitutionally adequate notice to Kapitus Servicing, Inc., an entity servicing a purported contract involving T4SUI. Kapitus Servicing, Inc. did not appear in the PSC proceeding. In the view of T4SUI, the failure to appear constituted waiver of any position Kapitus might have taken, including, any argument that the Bankruptcy Court had previously, and undisputedly, upheld the liability of T4SUI on the purported contract.

The Public Service Commission conducted a hearing and determined that the purported contract was illegal and void because PSC approval had not been obtained, and retroactive approval was not warranted. The PSC concluded that T4SUI had received no money under the purported contract. The contract, and an accompanying security agreement and financing statement were all held to be void.

Kapitus Servicing, Inc. had brought suit before that ruling issued, for inter alia, breach of contract. However, before a responsive pleading was due in that litigation the ruling had been made. Petitioners moved to dismiss and asserted that the Order of the PSC was res judicata.

The presiding judge, Michael Lorensen of the Tucker County Business Court, conducted hearings, and received extensive briefing. He determined that the Supreme Court would defer to the PSC, and felt he should do so as well. Petitioners support that ruling, but do assert a similar result would be reached by affording the PSC decision res judicata effect as had been asked in the motion to dismiss.

The failure of Kapitus Servicing, Inc. to appear after receiving notice was an ineffective strategy to attempt to thwart the primary jurisdiction of the PSC to approve, or not, contracts within the scope of W.Va. Code § 24-2-12. The decision of the ICA to reverse Judge Lorensen leaves the Petitioners in the untenable position of being liable for breach of a contract that the PSC has determined was illegal and void. The ICA was wrong.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

In the Petitioners' view, the correct issue to resolve this appeal is did the Business Court properly defer to a decision of the Public Service Commission and, after so doing, properly dismiss Count I of the Complaint as a consequence. Alternatively, should the Business Court have applied

principles of res judicata, found the PSC Order to be res judicata and dismissed Count I¹ as a consequence.

However, the Intermediate Appellate Court accepted a different view. The ICA seems to have treated the decision of Kapitus Servicing, Inc., to not appear before the Public Service Commission and thereby be deemed to have waived any claim it might have made to res judicata arising out of a decision of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of West Virginia, as immaterial. As a consequence the ICA did not address the claim of waiver, and held that the decision of the Bankruptcy Court was entitled to res judicata. The consequences of that decision now leave the Petitioners ordered to do one thing by its primary regulator, and to be liable for doing that same thing, by the decision of the ICA.

The facts are not in dispute but are complicated nonetheless. Petitioners believe that oral argument is warranted, and that the lengthier opportunity for oral argument provided under Rule 20, favors review of this case under that Rule.

ARGUMENT

Overview

Review of a particular issue can often depend on the procedural posture in which a legal question is presented. The procedural posture of this dispute is complex, although the underlying dispute itself is relatively straight forward.

Timberline Four Seasons Utilities, Inc. was the subject of Public Service Commission proceedings in 2016. Wrongdoing by the prior management was addressed at that time. Payments

¹ Judge Lorensen only ruled on Count I. He did certify that ruling as final under W.Va. Rule of Civil P. 54(b).

to creditors and others were ordered for management misconduct which had been established at that time. Still, management was allowed to remain.

In 2018, new proceedings were initiated before the Public Service Commission. Wrongdoing by management led the Public Service Commission to oust prior management and seek a receivership proceeding in the Circuit Court of Tucker County. In the proceeding the Public Service Commission found extensive corruption and mismanagement by the owners and managers of Timberline Four Seasons Utilities, Inc. (See, Findings 1 -3, App. at 366) On March 13, 2019, the Circuit Court appointed the Canaan Valley Public Service District as the Receiver for Timberline Four Seasons Utilities, Inc.

However, in 2017, long before prior management was removed, documents had been signed with US Funding, now being serviced by Kapitus Servicing, Inc. These documents purported to be a contract for the transfer of a tranche of future accounts receivables from either, or both, Timberline Four Seasons Resorts, Inc., and Timberline Four Seasons Utilities, Inc., to US Funding. The documents provided for a sum certain to be paid by US Funding. That some sum was paid by US Funding has not been disputed. On the other hand, what entity was paid, has been disputed.² The Receiver was unaware of the existence of the Kapitus transaction until long after the receivership was created.

Guarantees, executed by Frederick Herz and Frederick Reichle, principals in both entities, and insiders of both entities, and among the alleged wrongdoers of prior management were part of the entire transaction. The documents purported to be a contract governed by Virginia law.

² The PSC Order found that T4SUI had not been provided any monies by US Funding, the principal of Kapitus. (See, Findings 15, 16, 18, and 22 at App. 368)

The existence of the contractual claim had earlier come to light when a Complaint filed in a Virginia Court was sent to the Receiver for Timberline Four Seasons Utilities, Inc. The Receiver did not believe there was a valid contract, and particularly held that belief because W.Va. Code § 24-2-12 required Public Service Commission approval of a contract for a sale of necessary assets.³

Kapitus Servicing, Inc., purportedly obtained a default judgment in Virginia in those proceedings. Kapitus appears to have abandoned reliance on that default judgment as a result of jurisdictional defects related thereto.

The Existence of a Final Order and the Standard of Review

As noted in the Statement of the Case, this case started on appeal because of an order of the Business Court of Tucker County, granting a motion to dismiss filed by the Defendants, Petitioners herein, Timberline Four Seasons Utilities, Inc., and Canaan Valley Public Service District. The Petitioners asserted below that Count I of the Complaint was barred by a decision of the Public Service Commission which was entitled to res judicata effect.

While technically beyond the four corners of the Complaint, this Court has identified res judicata as an issue that can be raised in a Motion to Dismiss filed under W.Va. R.C.P. 12. See e.g., Gulas v. Infocision Management Corp., 215 W.Va. 225, 229 n.4, 599 S.E.2d 648, 652 n.4 (2004) (approving the use of judicial notice in consideration of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss) relying on Bezanson v. Bayside Enterprises, Inc., 922 F.2d 895, 904 (1st Cir.1990) and Andrews v. Daw, 201 F.3d 521, 524 n. 1 (4th Cir. 2000). See also, S.U. v. C.J., 2021 W.Va. LEXIS 34, 2021 WL 36 5824 (W.Va. February 2, 2021). While this approach is at odds with the proposition that

³ A separate subsection of W.Va. Code § 24-2-12 requires approval of a contract involving insiders. (See, Conclusions of Law 1-2, at App. 369)

only the allegations of the Complaint may be considered in deciding a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, this exception has been found permissible where there is certainty in the form of the prior ruling. Moreover, such a rule advances the important policies of a) avoiding unnecessary litigation, and b) preventing the waste of judicial resources.

The Public Service Commission ruled that the purported contract was void. It held that Public Service Commission approval was necessary for the transfer of assets contemplated by the purported contract with Timberline Four Seasons Utilities, Inc, under W.Va. Code § 24-2-12. It further held that no such approval had been given earlier and that no retroactive approval should be given in these circumstances.

On this basis, the Petitioners asserted, inter alia, that Count I of the Complaint filed by Kapitus Servicing, Inc., should be dismissed. The Motion was granted as to Count I, an allegation of breach of the purported contract. Strictly speaking, the Business Court did not phrase its analysis on res judicata as advocated by the Movants. Instead, the Business Court held that the deference owed to a decision of the Public Service Commission in a series of cases decided by this Court counseled in favor of the same kind of deference by the Business Court. The Business Court dismissed Count I and certified that order as final under W.Va. Rule of Civil P. 54(b). That order became final when it was certified as final by the Business Court under W.Va. R.Civ.P. 54(b).

That order was appealed by the Plaintiff, Kapitus Servicing, Inc., to the Intermediate Court of Appeals. The ICA clearly had jurisdiction under W.Va. Code § 51-11-4(b)(1).

The Intermediate Court of Appeals reversed. If one were to give effect to the reversal, an argument could be made that this is no longer an appeal from a “final order.” A similar problem arose in the bankruptcy context in In re Marin Motor Oil, Inc. 689 F.2d 445 (3rd Cir. 1982) cert.

denied sub. nom. Michaels v. Official Unsecured Creditors' Committee, 459 U.S. 1206 (1983).

There a final order denying intervention as a matter of right was entered by the Bankruptcy Court. The District Court reversed, and granted intervention. A grant of intervention would not have been a final order under existing precedent. Consequently, the issue arose as to whether or not finality should be viewed from the procedural posture of the order which was the subject of original appeal, or should be viewed from the perspective of the order of the intermediate appellate body. In deciding this question, the Court of Appeals recognized that the lower court proceedings had been interrupted by what had been an appeal from a final order, and that interruption would not be magnified by further review concerning that issue.

That holding has been widely adopted, including by the Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. See In re: Carolina Motor Express, Inc., 949 F.2d 107, 114 at n. 1 (4th Cir. 1991) reversed on other grounds, Reiter v. Cooper, 507 U.S. 258 (1993).

The technicalities of the federal final order rule seem less important in West Virginia Courts because of the adoption of W.Va. Code § 51-11-10. That statute permits further review in this Court of a final order of the Intermediate Court of Appeals. The opinion and judgment reversing the Business Court was undoubtedly a final adjudication by the ICA. The Petitioners, Timberline Four Seasons Utilities, Inc., and Canaan Valley Public Service District have appealed here and believe jurisdiction to be correct under the foregoing statute.

A related question involves the standard of review. Ordinarily review from an order granting dismissal of a complaint is de novo. Noland v Virginia Insurance Reciprocal, 224 W.Va. 372, 686 S.E.2d 23 (2009). The Petitioners believe that remains the applicable standard of review despite the action of the ICA.

As of yet, there does not appear to be a decision of this Court addressing whether on further appeal from the Intermediate Court of Appeals if the standard of review of the lower court order remains the same. It appears that it should, as it is the decision of the Business Court, and not the decision of the Intermediate Court of Appeals, which appears to be at issue.

This is the approach taken in the federal system. Final decisions of Bankruptcy Courts are reviewed in the District Courts. Further review is possible in the Courts of Appeals. In Copley v. United States, 959 F.3d 118 (4th Cir. 2020), the Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit wrote:

In reviewing the judgment of a district court sitting in review of a bankruptcy court, *we apply the same standard of review that was applied by the district court.* Three Sisters Partners, LLC v. Harden (In re Shangra-La, Inc.), 167 F.3d 843, 847 (4th Cir. 1999). That is, we review the bankruptcy court's legal conclusions de novo, its factual findings for clear error, and any discretionary decisions for abuse of discretion. Stancill v. Harford Sands Inc. (In re Harford Sands Inc.), 372 F.3d 637, 639 (4th Cir. 2004); Meyer Med. Physicians Grp., Ltd. v. Health Care Serv. Corp., 385 F.3d 1039, 1041 (7th Cir. 2004).

Id. at 121. (Emphasis added.) Adoption of a similar principle in this Court would lead to analysis of whether or not dismissal by the Business Court was correct under the de novo standard. In applying that rule, the review of the Business Court reflected some deference to the Public Service Commission.

In a review of a decision of the Public Service Commission, this Court would use that standard. See, e.g. Bebe Enterprises, Inc. v. PSC, 201 W.Va. 19, 491 S.E.2d 19 (1997). It seems fair and harmonious to apply a de novo review of the Business Court decision in this case.

**Proceedings Before the West Virginia
Public Service Commission are Proceedings In Rem**

A proceeding before the Public Service Commission is a proceeding in rem. The Legislature created the Public Service Commission to regulate public utilities. It has assigned

review of the actions of public utilities to the Public Service Commission. See generally, W.Va. Code 24-2-1. Sewer systems and water systems are part of that oversight. W.Va. Code § 24-2-1(a)(7-8). It was specifically contemplated that the Public Service Commission would adjudicate rates, and the complaints of customers of all kinds.

Pursuant to authority granted to the Public Service Commission, the Commission has promulgated various rules. See W.Va. Code Reg. 150-1-1 et seq. West Virginia Regulation 150-1-5 defines parties to proceedings as “applicants, petitioners, complainants, defendants, respondents, and intervenors.” A respondent is specifically defined in W.Va. Code Reg. 150-1-5.4 as:

“Respondent” means any party subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission to whom the Commission issues notice instituting a proceeding or investigation or inquiry of the Commission; and any party in interest or person ordered before any pending proceeding of the Commission.

W.Va. Code Reg. 150-1-5 Parties and Protestants (West Virginia Code of State Rules (2024 Edition)).

Interestingly, a respondent is not required to appear to be a respondent. A party served with notice is a respondent.

The Public Service Commission gave Kapitus a notice and a formal invitation to intervene. T4SUI is a regulated utility, and it responded as the law requires it to do so. Kapitus made its own choice.

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