In the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia

Docket No. 23-728

SCA EFiled: May 16 2024

02:21PM EDT

Transaction ID 73082146

**TIMBERLINE FOUR SEASONS
UTILITIES INC. AND CANAAN
VALLEY PUBLIC SERVICE DISTRICT,
individually, and in its capacity as
RECEIVER OF TIMBERLINE FOUR
SEASONS UTILITIES INC.,**

*Petitioners, Defendants /
Respondents Below,*

v.

**TUCKER COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT
BUSINESS DIVISION
CIVIL ACTION NO. 22-C-4
PRESIDING: JUDGE LORENSEN**

KAPITUS SERVICING, INC. *formerly
known as COLONIAL FUNDING
NETWORK, INC., as authorized servicing
agent for First US Funding,*

*Respondent, Plaintiff / Petitioner
Below.*

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Ancil G. Ramey (W. Va. Bar No. 3013)

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

The Bankruptcy Court then specifically found the Agreement to be valid and enforceable, concluding that, if anything, the Agreement's impact was beneficial. Any detriment to the public occurred as a direct result of Timberline Utilities' misrepresentations, not any action attributable to Kapitus.

The Bankruptcy Court considered *Lockard* but primarily relied on statutory instruction, and specifically found the Agreement was in the public interest by providing emergency financing.⁷⁶ While the PSC found that the Agreement was void, its only legal basis for doing so was the failure to submit the contracts for prior approval under W. VA. CODE § 24-2-12.⁷⁷ The Bankruptcy Court properly applied W. VA. CODE § 24-2-12 in deciding the Agreement was enforceable. Its decision was based on clear statutory principles and should not be disturbed.

2. There are no “extraordinary reasons” to overcome the policy of preclusion that is fundamental to *res judicata*.

Petitioners did not provide any “extraordinary reasons” to defeat *res judicata*. Instead, the Petitioners speculate as to how the PSC would have ruled if Kapitus had participated. Such speculation is unwarranted and non-determinative. The only scenario that would “defeat the ends of justice” is a scenario where Kapitus is not permitted to enforce an Agreement because of Timberline Utilities' failure to get PSC approval before entering the Agreement. The Bankruptcy Court put it best in summarizing the potential inequity:

It would be decidedly inequitable for the defendant to accept the benefit of plaintiff's expenditures of money and services without any compensation therefor

⁷⁵ ECF No. 114.

⁷⁶ ECF No. 114.

⁷⁷ See Public Service Commission Recommended Decision, JA161.

in view of the fact, as this record discloses, defendant itself, through its own inaction and lack of diligence, was partly responsible for plaintiff's failure to obtain the consent and approval of the Public Service Commission to the lease in question.⁷⁸

The only parties set to gain a windfall are Petitioners if the ICA is reversed.

G. The Bankruptcy Court's Orders were not dependent on the PSC's determination and the PSC's determination has no impact on the Bankruptcy Court's Orders.

As set forth above, the PSC moved the Bankruptcy Court to lift the stay so that it could “investigate” the Agreement. The Bankruptcy Court permitted the investigation but was clear and unequivocal: *regardless of the PSC's investigation into the validity of the Agreement*, the Bankruptcy Court's Orders were final and enforceable.⁷⁹

Petitioners rely on the *Burford* abstention doctrine to argue that the Bankruptcy Court's Orders are somehow trumped by the PSC's Order. That is not how *Burford* abstention operates. It is not a *post-hoc* doctrine. It is the opposite. *Burford* abstention is exactly what it connotes: an *abstention* argument that can be made *to a federal court* to (perhaps temporarily) not exercise jurisdiction over an issue that a state regulatory agency has made (or will make during a stay of the federal proceedings). It is not an exception to *res judicata* to be invoked by a party who decided not to argue it earlier and thereby invalidate an *already final* decision by a federal court in “deference” to a *later* decision by a state regulatory body. Like a certified question or an appeal, a stay pursuant to *Burford* is exactly the kind of “hypothetical argument” that Petitioners could have made in the earlier Bankruptcy Court proceeding. Understandably, Petitioners want this

⁷⁸ 32 S.E.2d at 572.

⁷⁹ Ver. Compl. ¶¶ 52–53, JA30. ECF No. 114, Case No. 2:21-bk-00125; Bankruptcy Court's December 15, 2021, Audio Tr., at 40:25—41:18. All references to the United States Courts' Case Management/Electronic Case Files numbers herein (“ECF No.”) are to Case No. 2:21-bk-00125.

Court to pretend like they did. But they have given the Court no reason to rewrite history, much less ignore well-settled West Virginia law.⁸⁰ It is critical to recall at all times that the *Bankruptcy Court Orders came first, before the PSC Order*. Petitioners had their chance to raise all of this before the Bankruptcy Court. They are asking for the very worst kind of hindsight-driven do-over.

H. The West Virginia Public Service Commission’s Amicus Brief raises subject matter jurisdiction issues that are not properly before this Court and even if the issues were properly before Court, the ICA correctly held that the Bankruptcy Court had subject matter jurisdiction.

The Petitioners present only two issues: (1) did Kapitius waive res judicata by not intervening and asserting it in Public Service Commission proceedings, and (2) is the Bankruptcy Court’s decision entitled to preclusive effect?⁸¹ As demonstrated above, (1) Kapitius did not waive res judicata, and (2) the Bankruptcy Court’s Orders are entitled to preclusive effect.

⁸⁰ Without conceding that there is a shred of relevance to *Burford* given the Petitioners’ decision to raise for the first time on appeal, of all places, Kapitius notes that *Burford* abstention also would not have required the Bankruptcy Court to proceed any differently than it did:

The Supreme Court has repeatedly instructed that “federal courts have a strict duty to exercise the jurisdiction that is conferred upon them by Congress.” *Quackenbush v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 517 U.S. 706, 716 (1996); *see, e.g., Deakins v. Monaghan*, 484 U.S. 193, 203 (1988) (“[T]he federal courts have a virtually unflagging obligation to exercise their jurisdiction ...”

Abstention doctrines constitute “extraordinary and narrow exception[s]” to a federal court’s duty to exercise the jurisdiction conferred on it ...

Burford permits abstention when federal adjudication would “unduly intrude” upon “complex state administrative processes” because either: (1) “there are difficult questions of state law . . . whose importance transcends the result in the case then at bar”; or (2) federal review would disrupt “state efforts to establish a coherent policy with respect to a matter of substantial public concern.” Moreover, the Supreme Court has directed that “*Burford* allows a federal court to dismiss a case only” when presented with these “extraordinary circumstances.” ... “This balance only rarely favors abstention.”

Martin v. Stewart, 499 F.3d 360, 363–64 (4th Cir. 2007) (citations, internal citations, and parallel citations omitted).

The instant dispute would not require the Bankruptcy Court to abstain from deciding whether the parties’ Agreement was adverse to West Virginia’s public interests.

⁸¹ Petitioners’ Brief at 1.

The Petitioners have never contended, nor do they assert in their brief, that the Bankruptcy Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction. The Public Service Commission, however, has filed an amicus brief asking this Court to reverse the ICA’s decision based on the Bankruptcy Court’s alleged lack of subject matter jurisdiction.⁸² Procedurally and substantively, this argument has no merit.

First, “Assignments of error that are not argued in the briefs on appeal may be deemed by this Court to be waived.”⁸³ “Although an amicus brief can be helpful in elaborating issues properly presented by the parties, it is normally not a method for injecting new issues into an appeal, at least in cases where the parties are competently represented by counsel.”⁸⁴ Accordingly, as the issue of the Bankruptcy Court’s subject matter jurisdiction is not properly before this Court.

Second, although “a question of subject matter jurisdiction may be raised for the first time on appeal,”⁸⁵ that rule is limited to consideration of the lower or appellate tribunal’s subject matter

⁸² Amicus Brief at 3 (“The ICA’s Opinion is in error by (i) assuming the Bankruptcy Court had subject matter jurisdiction in the first place, and (ii) failing to acknowledge that the PSC has the last word ... on the *actual* exercise of a reserved police power.”) (emphasis in original). But, it should surprise no one that the ICA assumed the Bankruptcy Court had subject matter jurisdiction, and its decision intruded upon no reserved police power, as those issues were never presented to the ICA, which is why the Amicus is prohibited from raising those issues now.

⁸³ Syl. pt. 6, *Addair v. Bryant*, 168 W. Va. 306, 284 S.E.2d 374 (1981); *see also Argus Energy, LLC v. Marenko*, 248 W. Va. 98, ___, 887 S.E.2d 223, 228-29 (2023) (“appellate courts generally do not consider issues or arguments raised for the first time in oral argument because such issues or arguments are waived by failure to include them in the appellate brief.”) (footnotes omitted); W. Va. R. App. P. 10(c) (stating this Court may disregard errors not adequately supported by specific references to the appellate record).

⁸⁴ *Universal City Studios, Inc. v. Corley*, 273 F.3d 429, 445 (2d Cir. 2001) (citation omitted); *see also F.T.C. v. Phoebe Putney Health Sys., Inc.*, 568 U.S. 216, 226 n.4 (2013) (declining to consider issues raised by amici that were not raised by the parties or addressed by the lower courts); *Olmsted v. Pruco Life Ins. Co. of N.J.*, 283 F.3d 429, 436 n. 5 (2d Cir. 2002) (“an issue raised only by an amicus curiae is normally not considered on appeal.”); *Zango, Inc. v. Kaspersky Lab, Inc.*, 568 F.3d 1169, 1177 n.8 (9th Cir. 2009) (“An amicus curiae generally cannot raise new arguments on appeal, and arguments not raised by a party in an opening brief are waived....”) (citations omitted); *People v. Hannon* (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th 94, 105, 209 Cal.Rptr.3d 408.) (“[i]t is a general rule that an amicus curiae accepts a case as he or she finds it,’ and ‘amicus curiae may not “launch out upon a juridical expedition of its own unrelated to the actual appellate record.”’”) (citations omitted).

⁸⁵ *Argus Energy, LLC v. Marenko*, 248 W. Va. 98, 104, 887 S.E.2d 223, 229 (2023); *see also United States v. Williams*, 2 F. App’x 284, 289 n.4 (4th Cir. 2001) (“[A]rguments alleging a lack of subject matter jurisdiction may be raised for the first time at oral argument, since such claims are never waived and may be considered sua sponte

jurisdiction, *not a collateral attack on another court's subject matter jurisdiction*.⁸⁶ Indeed, the Amicus Brief flips subject matter jurisdiction on its head as the Circuit Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to overturn a Bankruptcy Court's judgment, not vice-versa.⁸⁷ Quite simply, "A bankruptcy court's final orders *are not subject to later collateral attack based upon challenges to its subject matter jurisdiction*."⁸⁸ This is because if a party is "dissatisfied with the Bankruptcy Court's ultimate decision, [it] can appeal 'to the district court for the judicial district in which the bankruptcy judge is serving,' and then to the Court of Appeals."⁸⁹ To permit collateral attacks on bankruptcy court judgments, the Supreme Court of the United States has noted, would "seriously undercut[] the orderly process of the law."⁹⁰

Finally, even if the Amicus could raise an issue neither preserved in the record nor raised by the Petitioners and collaterally attack the Bankruptcy Court's subject matter jurisdiction to

even if never raised by the parties."); *Rath v. Rath*, 892 N.W.2d 205, 207 (N.D. 2017) ("[C]hallenges to subject matter jurisdiction can be raised at anytime, even for the first time at oral argument.").

⁸⁶ *Green Tree Servicing, LLC v. Clark*, 224 Conn. App. 740, 746 (2024) ("the procedural context of a challenge to subject matter jurisdiction is an important consideration, leading courts to disfavor collateral attacks on judgments.") (citation omitted); *Day v. DeVries*, No. CV 21-2146-KHV, 2023 WL 8529140, at *1 (D. Kan. Dec. 8, 2023) ("this Court has no jurisdiction to entertain a collateral attack on the Tenth Circuit conclusion that Rooker-Feldman deprives this Court of subject matter jurisdiction over plaintiff's case").

⁸⁷ *Bell Fam. Tr. v. Vermilion Par. Clerk of Ct.*, 2021-573 (La. App. 3 Cir. 4/27/22), 338 So. 3d 537 (trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over bankruptcy judgments, and those judgments, which were final and non-appealable, were dispositive with respect to trust's ownership of the property); *Kecki v. Texas Enterprises, LLC*, No. CV 2017-0892-MTZ, 2021 WL 3237134, at *3 (Del. Ch. July 30, 2021) ("this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over collateral attacks on the bankruptcy petition itself, including the List, and the Bankruptcy Court's order denying Chabrowski's motion to reopen the proceedings to challenge that List"); *Amir v. United States*, 154 Fed. Cl. 468, 473 (2021) ("Because the claims in Mr. Amir's complaint are, by their nature, a collateral attack on the rulings of the bankruptcy court and the actions of the bankruptcy trustee, Mr. Amir's suit must be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.").

⁸⁸ *In re Brace*, No. 6:11-BK-26154, 2021 WL 2006530, at *3 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 25, 2021), *aff'd*, No. 21-55514, 2022 WL 885149 (9th Cir. Mar. 25, 2022) (citing *Traveler's Indem. Co. v. Bailey*, 557 U.S. 137, 147 (2009) (emphasis supplied)).

⁸⁹ *Celotex Corp. v. Edwards*, 514 U.S. 300, 313 (1995) (quoting 28 U.S.C. § 158(a) and citing 28 U.S.C. § 158(d)) (internal citations omitted).

⁹⁰ *Id.*

resolve a dispute over the enforceability of a dispute over agreements between a debtor and a creditor, which the Supreme Court has prohibited, its argument is substantively wrong. The Bankruptcy Court had before it, as is quite common in bankruptcy proceedings, the validity of a debtor's contracts and determined them to be valid and enforceable. The Amicus makes the legally incomprehensible argument that only a state utility commission with no jurisdiction in bankruptcy is the only tribunal to determine the validity of a utility's contracts when a utility *goes to a federal bankruptcy court as a debtor seeking protection from its creditors*. It should be no surprise to the Court that the Amicus cites no specific authority supporting this proposition. What is surprising is that the Amicus has chosen to wade into the waters of this case, raising an issue not raised or briefed by the utility when federal precedent bars a collateral attack on a federal bankruptcy court judgment in this manner, despite its acknowledgment that the utility incurred a debt to Kapitus of over \$325,000⁹¹ as if Kapitus, as the lender, should bear the loss of money loaned to the utility, the borrower, by scapegoating "prior management."⁹² None of the cases discussed in the Amicus Brief support its argument that a federal bankruptcy court lacks jurisdiction to determine the validity and enforceability of a debtor's contract with a creditor because the debtor is a utility.

In the first case cited by the Amicus, *Matter of Quanta Res. Corp.*, 739 F.2d 912, 914 (3d Cir. 1984), *aff'd sub nom. Midlantic Nat. Bank v. New Jersey Dep't of Env't Prot.*, 474 U.S. 494, 106 S. Ct. 755, 88 L. Ed. 2d 859 (1986), the issue involved a bankruptcy trustee abandoning a waste oil processing and storage facility regulated by a state agency, which intervened, unlike the Amicus in this case, in the bankruptcy proceeding, arguing "that abandonment of the property

⁹¹ Amicus Brief at 6.

⁹² *Id.* It is not insignificant, as the Bankruptcy Court found, that "Both agreements" at issue in this case "contained clauses stating that the Debtor had all necessary authorizations and licenses and that the signers had full power and authority of the entity to enter into the agreement on its behalf." App. at 2.

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